
BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 1 of 8 

 

 

This meeting was held virtually.  1 

 2 

CALL TO ORDER 3 

 4 

The meeting was called to order by Chairperson Steve Flaherty at 7:00 PM.   5 

 6 

Mr. Flaherty led meeting attendees in the pledge of allegiance.  7 

 8 

BZC members present: Chairperson Steve Flaherty, Vice-Chairperson Jerry Valentine, 9 

Darcy Kaplan, Martin Johnson, Mike Bardash.  10 

 11 

Also present: 1st alternate Christina Littleton, BZC 2nd alternate Angela Brown, Zoning 12 

Clerk Lisa Knapp, Zoning Secretary Cathy Rippel.  13 

 14 

Mr. Flaherty reviewed the adopted policy of the BZC, and noted that public comments 15 

are limited to three minutes per person.  He reviewed the procedures for this hearing. He 16 

noted that public comment can be taken via the zoom link on the township website. 17 

AGENDA ITEM: 2021 BZC GOALS & OBJECTIVES  DISCUSSION 18 

Mr. Flaherty said there is no hearing or applicant tonight, but the BZC established earlier 19 

in the year that they want to be proactive and work on corrections and amendments to the 20 

zoning resolution and other documents.  A list of 2021 action items and goals was created 21 

and was shared with the BZC members. 22 

 23 

Mr. Flaherty said the BZC would be reviewing the Comprehensive Land Use Plan 24 

(CLUP) to ensure it aligns with the growth areas in the township and ensure it has the 25 

necessary districts for the things being developed in the area and that the guidelines are 26 

oriented around what the residents want and also the growth of the area.   27 

 28 

 29 

Mr. Flaherty reviewed the list of items being discussed, as well as suggestions from Scott 30 

Sanders, executive director of the Delaware County Regional Planning Commission, and 31 

Assistant Delaware County Prosecutor Chris Ballard. 32 

 33 

 34 

 35 

 36 

 37 

 38 

 39 

 40 

 41 

 42 

 43 

 44 

 45 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 2 of 8 

 

 

 46 
Mr. Flaherty said perhaps solar could be installed in the ramps of the highways, but it 47 

may be too expensive to place in large areas in Berlin Township. 48 

 49 

Ms. Littleton asked whether aspects would need to be regulated in parking lots and roofs, 50 

such as setback, height etc.  Mr. Flaherty said they would be shallow depth on roofs. 51 

Regarding parking lots, they would most likely be the overhead structures where there is 52 

a shaded parking lot with a solar panel roof.  That may be seen in the business park.  He 53 

said allowing sustainable power sources like this may be desirable.  The windmills are 54 

different and there may be some weigh-in necessary on that. 55 

 56 

Mr. Johnson suggested adding language that if they are attached to the roof, all items 57 

must fall into the maximum height including those items.  Ms. Brown said the language 58 

could state the building height would be X’, with 10’ allowed as part of the mechanicals.  59 

Ms. Littleton said that language in the overlay should also mirror the language in the 60 

zoning resolution.   61 

 62 

Ms. Littleton asked whether solar panels could cause issues in a parking lot.  Mr. Flaherty 63 

said they would deflect into whatever drainage system the development did.     64 

 65 

 66 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 3 of 8 

 

 

 67 

 68 

 69 

 70 

 71 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 4 of 8 

 

 

 72 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 5 of 8 

 

 

 73 
 74 

 75 

Mr. Flaherty said if somebody wanted to bring in windmills, they could not just pull 76 

down the cloud, and they would need to come in for a separate zoning application.  He 77 

agreed with that and said the BZC probably did not want a cloud windmill to be pulled 78 

down from that as that was not included in the cloud.  If somebody proposed a wind 79 

tower as part of their overall development, that could come through on the cloud as an 80 

amenity on a larger application.   81 

 82 

Mr. Johnson said it would appear to come to the BZA, not the BZC, so the BZC has 83 

nothing to say about it anyway.  Mr. Flaherty said the trustees would have to adapt the 84 

zoning regulating so the BZC could suggest some of this language to the trustees.   85 

 86 

Language from Clermont County was reviewed.  It will be sent to the trustees for further 87 

review.   88 

 89 

Ms. Littleton asked what the maximum acreage would be of the small windfarms.  Mr. 90 

Flaherty said it would be 250/50 and 2,000 by 50 and that would be a 5 megawatt or 91 

below.   92 

 93 

Ms. Kaplan asked whether it was being stated that agribusiness and agritourism were two 94 

different things.  She asked if they should be separate or together.  Mr. Flaherty said he is 95 

saying that they are two separate categories and that agritourism is a subset of agriculture 96 

so the township would not be wise to tinker with anything in 6.02, which is around 97 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 6 of 8 

 

 

agritourism.  However, if an owner wants to claim additional activity as agritourism, the 98 

township can regulate safe ingress and egress, adherence to setbacks, and waste handling.  99 

 100 

Mr. Bardash said regarding the bike trails, he has 3 PDF files that he needs to add to the 101 

file, including a plan for Delaware County that was adopted in 2017.   102 

 103 

There was a discussion about bike trails and plans and a map was displayed and 104 

discussed. 105 

 106 

 107 

The suggestion was discussed and the regulations were pulled up for review. 108 

 109 

Mr. Flaherty noted that roofs were not mentioned in the document.  Ms. Brown said the 110 

proposal of roofs was out of respect for the mail carriers and the residents; they would 111 

make their lives easier so that they would not get wet or snowed on while standing there 112 

delivering or picking up mail.  It would also help prevent ice in front of them. Mr. 113 

Bardash said he agreed, but he would typically wait until the weather stops before he gets 114 

the mail.  The mail service has always lived by rain, snow sleet and hail. 115 

 116 

Ms. Kaplan said the mail would get wet while being delivered.  Mr. Flaherty said the 117 

maintenance would become a nuisance for the residents. Ms. Kaplan said that they can 118 

also attract wasps and bird nests.  Mr. Bardash said if it’s not required, the expense 119 

usually causes a pushback by the developer.  There was a discussion about the 120 

unattractive appearances of many of the cluster mailboxes.   121 

 122 

Mr. Flaherty said that offsite parking may sound like a good idea, but that is problematic.  123 

It also generates a curb ramp to the design for each access point.  If there are boxes in the 124 

area on the sidewalk, there still has to be a ramp, but if there are multiple areas and there 125 

are two entries to those area, two different curb cuts are required.  If it’s a certain length, 126 

there must be cuts in the middle.  He noted there are ways to buffer their appearance with 127 

shrubbery, etc.  128 

 129 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 7 of 8 

 

 

Ms. Kaplan was concerned about the aesthetics of the unit next to very expensive homes. 130 

 131 

Green space was discussed.  Ms. Brown provided language from Liberty Township. Mr. 132 

Flaherty said Mr. Sanders stated that he supported language that required that a certain 133 

portion of the open space must be active, but not reducing the overall requirements just 134 

because some was active.  Mr. Flaherty suggested perhaps that 3-7% should be active 135 

space.   136 

 137 

Ms. Kaplan said that most of the recent developments do have pathways and that could 138 

be counted as active green space.  Ms. Brown said that Liberty Township has it broken 139 

down by use. 140 

 141 

Mr. Flaherty said the recommendations from Mr. Sanders state that the CLUP map and 142 

recommendations needs to be updated to acknowledge the current overlay, and several 143 

areas will need the most work.  He said Mr. Sanders stated that the build out land use mix 144 

also needs to be updated; he ran some preliminary numbers and the township’s 145 

commercial and industrial land use will increase by about 233 acres.  PRD will increase 146 

from single family and multi-family will increase by about 585 acres.  Mr. Flaherty said 147 

those are the actual land use numbers from the cloud after the buffer and green spaces are 148 

removed from the 2000-acre area.  About 800 acres of that is active land use. 149 

 150 

Mr. Flaherty asked if there was a preference regarding what should be addressed first.  151 

The “changes and ambiguities” is an easier subject and will be sent to the county 152 

prosecutor’s office.  Solar farms can be addressed via the indirect language including 153 

height requirements, and the windmills language will be passed along to the trustees. 154 

Additional research will be done on the bike paths and a policy will be created that 155 

includes the 10’ wide standard.  The roofs and offsite parking will continue to be 156 

addressed, and the recreation areas with the green space will continue to be discussed. 157 

 158 

Mr. Flaherty said the business park information will be sent to Mr. Sanders.  He asked 159 

Ms. Littleton to work with him regarding things he suggests and what he thinks the 160 

township needs.  Ms. Littleton said it was stated before that changes do not need to be 161 

made to what is under the cloud and what is around it is what will be looked at.  Ms. 162 

Littleton said there isn’t much that isn’t already planned in the area.  Mr. Flaherty said 163 

buffering was considered in the business park cloud.   164 

 165 

Mr. Flaherty noted that We Love Berlin Township has a Facebook page, and he is 166 

recommending that developers meet with them to get citizen input.  He recommended 167 

that residents get involved in that group as well.   168 

 169 

Ms. Rippel noted that there are no pending zoning applications. She recently heard from 170 

Todd Faris, who may be bringing an application to the BZC at that time.  171 

AGENDA ITEM: APPROVAL OF MINUTES 172 

Mr. Flaherty made a motion to approve the minutes from the 2/23/21 BZC meeting.  Mr. 173 

Bardash seconded the motion. 174 

Vote: Flaherty, yes; Bardash, yes; Valentine, yes; Kaplan, yes; Johnson, abstain. 175 

Motion carried, minutes were approved. 176 

 177 

Mr. Flaherty said the next meeting will be on March 23, 2021.  There are no pending 178 

applications, so that meeting will be used to continue working on the goals.  179 

 180 

There was no further business to come before the BZC.  181 

Motion to adjourn.  Meeting adjourned. 182 

 183 

 184 

 185 



BERLIN TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION (BZC) 
 

OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 43015 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021 7:00 PM 

 

Page 8 of 8 

 

 

 186 

 187 

________________________________________ 188 

Steve Flaherty, Chairperson 189 

 190 

 191 

________________________________________ 192 

Jerry Valentine, Vice-Chairperson 193 

 194 

 195 

________________________________________ 196 

Darcy Kaplan, member 197 

 198 

 199 

________________________________________ 200 

Mike Bardash, member 201 

 202 

 203 

________________________________________ 204 

Martin Johnson, member 205 

 206 

 207 

________________________________________ 208 

Christina Littleton, 1st alternate member 209 

 210 

 211 

________________________________________ 212 

Angela Brown, 2nd alternate member 213 

 214 

 215 

Attest: ______________________________________ 216 

             Lisa F. Knapp, Berlin Township Zoning Clerk  217 

 218 

 219 


